

Industrial relations and social dialogue Germany: Developments in working life 2022

Authors: Sandra Vogel and Marc Breitenbroich (German Economic Institute, IW)

Research manager: Christine Aumayr-Pintar Eurofound reference number: WPEF23013

© European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (Eurofound), 2023 Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged.

For any use or reproduction of photos or other material that is not under the Eurofound copyright, permission must be sought directly from the copyright holders.

Any queries on copyright must be addressed in writing to: copyright@eurofound.europa.eu

Research carried out prior to the UK's withdrawal from the European Union on 31 January 2020, and published subsequently, may include data relating to the 28 EU Member States. Following this date, research only takes into account the 27 EU Member States (EU28 minus the UK), unless specified otherwise.

The European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (Eurofound) is a tripartite European Union Agency established in 1975. Its role is to provide knowledge in the area of social, employment and work-related policies according to Regulation (EU) 2019/127.

European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions

Telephone: (+353 1) 204 31 00

Email: information@eurofound.europa.eu

Web: www.eurofound.europa.eu

Contents

Introduction	
Political context	2
Actors, institutions and processes	3
Social partners	3
Social dialogue bodies or frameworks	3
Other working life related institutions	3
Governmental responses to inflation	4
Collective bargaining and inflation	6
How inflation features in wage negotiations	
Examples of recent responses	6
Developments in working time	
Changes to legislation	
Bargaining outcomes	8
Debates on duration and organisation	8
Labour market shortages and social partners	9
Other important policy developments	
Self-employed	
Wage setting	11
Health and safety	11
Working life of Ukrainian refugees	12
Employment and working conditions	
Social partner initiatives to support Ukrainian refugees	
Commentary and outlook	
References	

Introduction

While in 2021 working life was still significantly impacted by the pandemic, the outbreak of the war in Ukraine on 24 February 2022 added serious hardship to a recovering economy. After a notable recovery in 2021, the gross domestic product (GDP) continued at a lesser rate. As a result, the GDP increased by 1.9% in 2022 compared to 2.6% in 2021 (Destatis, 2023a). Additionally, the labour market continued its improvement in the first half of 2022, with the unemployment rate dropping from 5.9% in January 2022 to 5.4% in May 2022 (BA, 2023). In the months after, the unemployment rate increased up to 6.1% in August 2022 (BA, 2023). In the end, the annual average for 2022 rested at 5.3%. Furthermore, the usage rate of short time work due to a shortfall in orders, an important labour market tool throughout the pandemic, slowly closed in on a pre-pandemic level dropping to 227,720 in June 2022 (compared to 133,198 in January 2020) (BA, 2022a).

Crisis and war-related effects have led to a continuous increase in inflation throughout the year. While in January 2022, the monthly inflation rate was at 4.9% and thus just under the 5% mark, it increased to a 40 year high of 10.4% in October 2022 (Destatis, 2023b). The last time the monthly inflation rate was this high was in 1981 after the first gulf war led to increased mineral oil prices. Although price increases have not been fully passed on to the consumer, the costs for energy and food have significantly increased. Compared to 2021, costs for energy products increased by 34.7%. Strong energy related price increases included household energy (+39.1%), light heating oil (+87%), natural gas (+64.8%) and fuel (+26.8%). Prices for food have risen by 13.4% compared to 2021 (Destatis, 2023b). In 2021, the price increase was at only 3.2%. Strong food related price increases include sunflower oil (+63.9%), butter (+39.1%), dairy products and eggs (+19.7%), meat products (+14.6%) and grain products (+13.5%) (Destatis, 2023b).

In the course of the Russian war against Ukraine Germany's Federal Minister of Economics, Mr Robert Habeck (Greens) announced that Germany would be able to manage without Russian oil in the short-term (Deutschlandfunk, 2022). While Germany imported 35% of its oil from Russia at the beginning of the war, this share was reduced to 12% at the end of April 2022. Since 5 December 2022, the EU implemented an import ban on Russian crude oil per tankship. With the start of 2023, Germany has implemented an additional import ban on crude oil delivered via the pipeline Druschba (T-Online, 2023). As a consequence, the eastern German refineries Schwedt and Leuna will have to change their sources of supply. The government has promised €1 billion in investments which will be used to expand the pipeline from Rostock to Schwedt and thus increase its capacity (T-Online, 2023).

Political context

Since the Federal Election in 2021 which resulted in a coalition between the Social Democrats (SPD), the Greens (Die Grünen) and the Free Democrats (FDP) headed by Federal Chancellor, Mr Olaf Scholz, the political landscape has been stable. Unity was shown in the election of the Federal president in February 2022, when Mr Frank-Walter Steinmeier (SPD) was re-elected with a majority of votes from SPD, CDU, the Greens and FDP (Deutscher Bundestag, 2022). In addition, state-level elections took place in Saarland, Schleswig-Holstein, Lower Saxony and North Rhine-Westphalia. Results in Lower Saxony and North Rhine-Westphalia support the green trend which transpired during the Federal Elections in 2021, with the Greens gaining significant increases in votes while SPD and CDU facing slight losses or only marginal increases in votes (Der Landeswahlleiter, 2022; Landesamt für Statistik, 2022).

Nonetheless, already in February 2022, protests took place calling for the end of the war against the Ukraine and peace in Europe. As the war continued, inner- and outer party debates ensued on many topics, such as Germany's stance on delivering heavy war machinery to support the Ukraine as well as on the extension of certain nuclear power plants lifetimes to avoid energy shortages during the winter 2022/23 and naturally on governmental measures to fight the effects of inflation (see next section in this report). Regards Germany's electricity supply, the German parliament in the end voted to postpone the shutdown of the last 3 operating nuclear power plants. Their shutdown had been planned for the end of 2022 as part of Germany's nuclear power phase-out. All three nuclear power plants will remain in operation until 15 March 2023 to ensure Germany's energy supply throughout the winter (Rheinische Post, 2022).

In the second half of 2022 the protests' intention shifted toward the effects of the war in Ukraine with major topics such as the rising living costs and the significant increase in energy costs (SWR, 2022; Berliner Kurier, 2022). Protesters started to call for a redistribution of wealth from top to bottom. However, the main critic concentrated on the relief packages by the Federal Government, which according to protesters should have been more comprehensive in order to prevent social unrest.

Actors, institutions and processes

Social partners

There have not been any major changes be it with regard to the setup of the industrial landscape (mergers or demergers, changes in rules regarding representativeness of trade unions, employers' organisations or regards their membership development) or with regard to the rules of collective bargaining, co-determination or social dialogue in 2022.

Social dialogue bodies or frameworks

There have not been any changes to the framework of social dialogue, no introduction of new national or sectoral level institutions, no changes to the legislative framework no changes to conflict resolution or employee representation in 2022.

Other working life related institutions

There have not been any changes regarding labour inspectorates or public employment services when it comes to their institutional setup. However, the Federal Minister for Labour and Social Affairs, Mr Hubertus Heil (SPD), announced the reform of the unemployment benefit II (commonly known as HARTZ-IV). After his ministry presented a first draft law in August 2022, the final version passed the German Bundestag on 20 December 2022 (BMAS, undated). The new welfare benefit called "citizen benefit" (*Bürgergeld*) took effect on 1 January 2023. Therefore, details on the new benefit will be provided with the next annual report.

Governmental responses to inflation

With the start of the Russian aggression war against Ukraine on 24 February 2022, the government implemented or expanded various tools to cushion the effects for German businesses and individuals.

In early April 2022, the German Federal Government implemented an extensive aid package to support businesses suffering from sanctions against Russia and from war actions. The prime objective was to ensure short-term liquidity. As a consequence, a credit programme was implemented, offering business of all sizes access to low-interest and liability-exempt credits. The programme has a volume of up to €7 billion. Additionally, the federal and state guarantee programmes for companies demonstrably affected by the war in Ukraine are to be continued. This includes the guarantee banks and the large-scale guarantee scheme. In detail, businesses must require a guarantee that is worth over €20 million in structurally weak regions — outside these regions the sum rises to €50 million. Furthermore, companies are required to prove that they have been negatively impacted by the sanctions against Russia or the actions of the war.

In a second aid package at the end of April 2022, the Federal Government implemented three additional measures:

First, an energy price lump sum allowance of €300 for people paying income tax and employees who are classified in tax classes I to V or are taxed at a flat rate as marginally employed persons. Social partners participated with other interested groups in an oral hearing of the competent committee of the national parliament (Bundestag).ⁱⁱⁱ

Second, to cushion the rising energy prices for families, the child benefit was increased by a one-time payment of €100 in July 2022. The bonus was paid out automatically by the competent family benefits office and is not to be taken into account as income in the case of social benefits.^{iv}

Third, a temporary reduction of the energy tax for fuel for three months. Starting on 1 July 2022, the energy tax rates for fuels mainly used in road transport were reduced to the level of the minimum tax rates of the EU Energy Tax Directive. Since the energy tax is a consumption tax that is in general borne in full by the end consumer, the temporary reduction of the tax rate enabled energy suppliers to pass on the tax reduction in full to the end consumer. The German Trade Union Confederation (DGB) criticised the measure for not targeting low income employees and warned that the measure is at risk of simply enlarging the profit margins for big fuel companies.

On 1 June 2022, a €9 ticket was introduced as a package to support commuters and other mobile citizens, workers or self-employed. The ticket was offered for 3 months with the intention to reduce commuter costs and at the same time as an incentive to use public transport rather than travelling by car for short-distance travel. The ticket offered public transport for a reduced price of €9 per month throughout Germany – it excluded long-distance transport such as ICE, IC or EC trains as well as Flix trains and buses. The German states were responsible for the ticket's implementation and were supported by the Federal government with €2.5 billion. The German Association of Transport Companies (VDV) announced at the end of August that they had sold 52 million €9 tickets and additionally recruited 10 million subscribers to other ticket formats. Estimates by the VDV suggest, that due to the €9 ticket approximately 10% of trips shifted from the car to public transport.

Furthermore, the average savings in greenhouse gases per month related to the €9 ticket are estimated at around 600,000 tons of CO2 per month.^{vi}

In early September 2022, the Federal Government agreed to a third aid package. According to Federal Chancellor, Mr Olaf Scholz (SPD), the third package will be more extensive and larger than the two previous ones combined. The package is expected to reduce the financial burden on citizens by €65 billion. The implementation of measures will continue until the first half of 2023 (Die Bundesregierung, 2022). Measures include a price stop on the electricity price starting in March 2023 as well as the postponement of the annual price increase of the CO2 price from 1 January 2023 to 1 January 2024. In addition, the child benefit will be increased by €18 monthly for the first and second child for the years 2023 and 2024, students will receive a one-off payment of €200 (negotiations on implementation responsibilities are still ongoing), pensioners will receive a one-off lump sum of €300 on 1 December 2023 and a higher housing allowance will be implemented from 1 January 2023 onwards, offering significantly more low-income earners access to the housing allowance (Die Bundesregierung, 2022).

As part of the third aid package the unemployment benefit II and social benefit was replaced by the "citizen's benefit" on 1 January 2023. The adjustment period for the new benefit was changed in such way that the expected inflation will be included better and faster when it comes to set the amount of the benefit (BMAS, undated).

After the €9 ticket expired, the Federal Government intends to introduce a nationwide local transport ticket with a ticket price of €49 per month (Die Bundesregierung, 2022). Additional financial relief is ensured by the abolition of the 'double taxation' of pensions. As of 1 January 2023, taxpayers are able to fully deduct their pensions contribution. Furthermore, starting from 1 October 2022, VAT on gas has been reduced to 7% until the end of March 2024, which is expected to have a direct anti-inflationary effect. The time limitation of the home office flat rate was abolished which will allow a deduction of €5 per home office day for income tax purposes up to a maximum of €600 per year.

ⁱ Eurofound (2022), <u>Loan guarantees for companies affected by the war in Ukraine</u>, DE-2022-20/2287 (measures in Germany), EU PolicyWatch, Dublin.

ⁱⁱ Eurofound (2022), <u>Expanded loan guarantees for companies affected by the war in Ukraine</u>, DE-2022-20/2290 (measures in Germany), EU PolicyWatch, Dublin.

Eurofound (2022), Energy price lump sum allowance for people paying income tax, DE-2022-23/2226 (measures in Germany), EU PolicyWatch, Dublin.

^{iv} Eurofound (2022), <u>Child bonus 2022 to cushion pressures on families from rising energy prices</u>, DE-2022-27/2228 (measures in Germany), EU PolicyWatch, Dublin.

^v Eurofound (2022), <u>Temporary reduction in fuel tax</u>, DE-2022-23/2231 (measures in Germany), EU PolicyWatch, Dublin.

vi Eurofound (2022), Reduced €9 monthly ticket for local public transport, DE-2022-23/2253 (measures in Germany), EU PolicyWatch, Dublin.

Collective bargaining and inflation

How inflation features in wage negotiations

While producer and consumer prices were rising strongly, collectively agreed wages were developing moderately in 2022. Preliminary calculations show that collectively agreed wages rose by 2.7% in the same year (WSI-Tarifarchiv, 2022). This compares to an average rise in consumer prices by 7.9% in 2022. On the one hand, the slower wage dynamics can be attributed to wage rises agreed upon before Russia invaded the Ukraine (agreed wage rises did not reflect the unexpected inflation resulting from the war). On the other hand, many wage agreements still covered the period of 2022 and no new wage negotiations were scheduled for 2022 (WSI-Tarifarchiv, 2022; Lesch, 2022).

In sectors where social partners met to negotiate new agreements, trade union demands ranged from calls for 'decent wage increases including the equalization of employees' purchasing power' to concrete demands of raising collectively wages of up to 13% (WSI-Tarifarchiv, 2022). As stated above, collectively agreed wages in the end rose by an average of 2.7%. However, the situation improves when collectively agreed special or one-off payments are also taken into account. Many of the wage agreements negotiated under the uncertain economic outlook of the COVID-19 pandemic included one-off payments that became payable in 2022 (Lesch, 2022).

Future wage dynamics are likely to be strongly influenced by agreeing on such special or one-off payments (Lesch, 2022). Though unions' demands for wage rises compensating inflation grew throughout 2022, employers are affected by the negative impact of the war and inflation, too. Social partners will have to negotiate with caution. Whilst unions cannot neglect their members interests and push for higher wages, employers will not necessarily be able to deal with steep rises in collectively agreed wages at the same time. A wage-price spiral might be prevented with a high one-off lump sum to compensate for increased living costs and by avoiding high annual wage increases (Lesch, 2022).

Examples of recent responses

The insurance industry was able to agree to a new collective wage agreement at the beginning of April 2022. The United Services Union (ver.di) had organised warning strikes before social partners reached a conclusion. According to Lesch (2022), negotiations in the insurance industry had the second highest conflict intensity of all bargaining rounds in the first half of 2022. After the third round of negotiations, employers and ver.di agreed upon the following terms: The new agreement will run for 26 months (WSI, 2022). During the 26 months, employees will receive two one-off payments – the first one in May 2022 (€550) and the second one in May 2023 (€500). Apart from the one-off payments, social partners also agreed to wage increases. Collectively agreed wages rose by 3% in September 2022 and another 2% will follow in September 2023. Agreements on partial retirement programmes and the working time corridor were extended (WSI, 2022). After the completed negotiation, ver.di stated that it had hoped for a better result, however, current business results would not have allowed a higher wage increase (ver.di, 2022b).

Social partners in the chemical industry agreed after the third round of negotiations to a new wage agreement in October 2022. Prior to negotiations, the trade union IG BCE emphasised the importance to increase wages to improve employees' purchasing power in the long-term. After

several bargaining round, the social partners in the industry agreed to the following terms: After two zero months, collectively agreed wages will be raised in two steps. The first wage increase, worth 3.25%, takes effect on 1 January 2023. The second step, also worth 3.25% will take effect on 1 January 2024. It is possible for chemical companies to postpone the pay increases by up to three months for economic reasons. Also, employees will receive a collectively agreed 'inflation allowance' of €1,500 each with the January payments in 2023 and 2024 (WSI, 2022). The new wage agreement expires on 30 June 2024 (running time of 20 months). Social partners in the chemical industry stressed that despite times of crisis, the emphasis was on a constructive exchange and negotiation (Süddeutsche, 2022).

Social partners in the metal and electrical industry agreed after five bargaining rounds to a new wage agreement in mid-November 2022. Collective bargaining negotiations in the industry were accompanied by the German Metalworkers' Union's threats to organise heavy strike action if an agreement was not reached quickly. After all, the new agreement includes a wage increase of 5.2% in June 2023 as well as another increase of 3.3% in May 2024. Additionally, employees will receive two inflation compensation bonuses, each worth €1,500. The first one will be payable on 1 March 2023 and the second one on 1 March 2024. For economic reasons, the bonus payments can be postponed until April of the following year. According to the employers' association Gesamtmetall the agreement is 'an advance on hopefully better times' (Gesamtmetall, 2022). It is expected that member companies will have to cope with a sharp increase in wage costs in addition to all other current burdens. The IG Metall highlighted that the new agreement provided employees with 'permanently more money' and additional tax-free bonus payments (IG Metall, 2022).

Developments in working time

Changes to legislation

In early September 2022, the Federal Labour Court (BAG) ruled that employers must introduce a system for recording working time (BAG, 2022). On 3 December 2022 the BAG published a more concrete justification of what a legally secure time recording system must look like, which obliged employers to introduce such a system, regardless of the company's size. Also, the employer is not only obliged to introduce a corresponding system but to also ensure its correct use. The system must be able to record the start and end of the working time (duration of working time), breaktimes and overtime. While employers are allowed to delegate the recording of working time to their employees, they have to ensure the correct use by random samples. In principle all employees have to record their working time, the only exceptions are currently executive employees (Personio.de, 2022). Executive employees are those employees that perform entrepreneurial tasks with a high degree of decision-making freedom in their area of responsibility. This could be the head of the HR department of a big company or the manager of a bigger establishment. The term in German is "leitender Angestellter".

With the rule of the BAG, employees working on trust-based working time have now the obligation to record their working time. They continue to be able to individually manage their working time, however, they will have to contemplate for statutory rules on rest and breaks, maximum working hours and the prohibition of work on Sundays and public holidays.

Bargaining outcomes

No major changes. Collective bargaining rounds in 2022 were more strongly focused on wage increases and one-off payments. Working time was not a major issue in 2022.

Debates on duration and organisation

No major debates.

Labour market shortages and social partners

The Federal Employment Agency (BA) regularly publishes data on labour shortages. Its latest analysis is available for reporting year 2021 (BA, 2022b). For 2021 the BA identified labour shortages in 148 occupations while in 2020 this number was at 131. In 2021 the most severe labour shortages affected jobs in civil engineering, well construction, in sanitation, heating and air conditioning and electric installations as well as in healthcare. The highest employment bottleneck occupations include jobs in nursing, professional truck drivers, medical workers and motor vehicle technicians (BA, 2022b). Compared to the number of occupations with labour shortages before the pandemic (185 in 2019), it is expected that labour shortages will increase again as businesses anticipate a high utilisation of their production capacities despite the war in Ukraine (BA, 2022b).

With the increasing need for more skilled workers and estimates that by 2026, 240,000 more positions have to be occupied than workers available, the Federal Government published its own skilled workers strategy in October 2022 (Die Bundesregierung, 2022). It believes that labour shortage can only successfully be tackled when all affected players (companies, municipalities, social partners, chambers, Federal Employment Agency, education and training providers) work together. The government identified 5 areas of action for the coming years (Die Bundesregierung, 2022).

Firstly, the provision of up-to-date training with modern and attractive training offers as well as early and comprehensive career guidance for all pupils. Additionally, dual vocational training is to remain fundamental for the competitiveness of German companies.

Secondly, targeted further training in the wake of structural changes has become more important than ever before in the view of the Federal Government. To ensure that employees can keep up with the changes, the Federal Government will make further qualification offers more accessible without age limits. As a result, the Federal Employment Agency will set up a national online platform.

Thirdly, the Federal Government intends to raise labour potentials more effectively and increase labour force participation. Efforts were made in recent years to increase women and mothers' participation in the labour market, but the expansion of day care centres and family related benefits need to be continued.

Fourthly, improving the quality of work and a change of work culture will be an important pillar to tackle labour shortages in future. The Federal Government supports an employee-oriented work culture and offers for a flexible transition to retirement for skilled workers. The goal is that workers stay in the workforce for longer. As a consequence, advisory services on flexible retirement are to be expanded.

Fifthly and last, the Federal Government wants to push for a modern immigration policy by simplifying administrative procedures as well as easing recognition of professional qualifications. A modern immigration policy also includes the uncomplicated reunification of families and their integration into society, education and the labour market. Furthermore, counselling services and language courses for those interested in immigration are to be expanded in the countries of origin.

While there is overwhelming support by the leading social partners for the government's skilled worker's strategy, some suggest a more extensive strategy or criticise the current strategy. In its evaluation of the government's skilled worker's strategy, the German Confederation of Skilled Crafts (ZDH) criticised that the crafts' sector has problems to fill vacancies nationwide and not only in

certain areas or regions (as suggested by the government). According to ZDH, over 30,000 open apprenticeship positions could not be filled in the crafts alone (ZDH, 2022).

Additionally, the ZDH criticised that eased procedures for getting foreign professional qualifications recognised would not automatically lead to more immigration. Instead, a decoupling of receiving residence rights and recognition of professional degrees was needed. The process of getting professional credentials recognized should begin after the arrival in Germany. In this way, the immigration process could be significantly accelerated. Overall, the ZDH had hoped for a more comprehensive governmental strategy (instead of the current listing of single measures) (ZDH, 2022). The Confederation of German Employers' Associations (BDA) added that labour shortages could be softened by artificial intelligence and digital assistance systems (BDA, 2022b). Thus, the government needs to provide an adequate framework supporting innovations and setting up businesses as well as expanding the broadband network faster.

The United Services Union (ver.di) supports the government's strategy but emphasised additional points of importance. In the view of ver.di, labour shortages could be eased, amongst other things, by providing for adequate staffing levels in the health-care sector as well as concluding and extending a collective agreement in the care sector to cover all employers (ver.di, 2022). ver.di holds that with improved pay and working conditions, employees will return to work in health-care and care (ver.di, 2022). ver.di (2022) also stresses that a joint "skilled labour initiative" to staff kindergartens as well as children and youth services. The Federal Government, the federal states and social partners should join hands and set up a nationwide vocational and further training system for these sectors. This also included making investments into providing attractive vocational training places and qualify employees properly. Similarly, working conditions and pay prospects would have to be improved in public administration that also faced severe labour shortages in the future (ver.di, 2022).

Other important policy developments

Self-employed

Starting form 1 April 2022, a new status determination procedure was implemented in order to check whether a contractor is legally classified as self-employed or as an employee (DRV, 2021). In the future, instead of determining the compulsory insurance status, the employment status will be determined. In case of an opposition proceeding, there will be an oral hearing to determine the status. A possible status determination can already be made prior to the start of a contractual relationship by means of a so-called prognosis decision. Furthermore, the status determination for several, identical contractual relationships will be possible as well as for contractual relationships involving more than two parties (DRV, 2021; DHZ, 2022).

Wage setting

In 2022, the statutory minimum wage was increased twice. At the beginning of 2021, the statutory minimum wage rested at €9.82 per hour and was raised to €10.45 per hour in July 2022. Both raises had been implemented on the basis of the German Minimum Wage Commission's third decision from 30 June 2020 (MLK, 2020). The national statutory minimum wage had been introduced by the German Minimum Wage Act (MiLoG), only taking effect in 2015. In accordance with the act, the Federal Government also set up a standing Minimum Wage Commission responsible for adjusting the height of the statutory minimum wage.

However, in 2022, the Federal Government decided to overrule the minimum wage commission's decision and set the statutory minimum wage at €12 per hour (effective since 1 October 2022). The latest raise equals an increase of over 12%. Whilst unions welcomed this step (DGB, 2022), employers criticised the Federal Government's proceedings for not adhering to the procedures laid out in the MiLoG, displacing hundreds of collectively agreed wage groups and intervene in the autonomous wage setting of unions and employer organisations (BDA, 2022a).

Health and safety

In the first half of 2022, the Sars-CoV-2 Occupational safety and health standard ordinance was extended until 25 May 2022. The latest revision of the ordinance stipulated that business had to keep basic protections measures in place. Health risk had to be determined by businesses by conducting a health risk assessment (BMAS, 2022).

Working life of Ukrainian refugees

Employment and working conditions

Since the start of the Russian aggression war against Ukraine in February 2024, the number of Ukrainian people seeking refuge in Germany increased strongly. By the end of September 2022, some 999,000 Ukrainians lived in Germany (Destatis, 2022). That is approximately seven times more Ukrainians in comparison to the end of February 2022. As section 24 of the German Residence Act is applicable to Ukrainian refugees or third-country nationals who can't safely return permanently to their country/region of origin, it allows them to register with the foreigners' authorities and be granted a temporary residence permit for protection. Once the temporary residence permit is issued, the competent foreigners' office can also grant a work permission.

The Institute of Employment Research (IAB) published first data on labour market integration of Ukrainian refugees (Brücker et al., 2022a). According to the IAB analysis, around 19% of Ukrainians were in employment in October 2022. This compares to approximately 52% of Ukrainians being in employment in January 2022. The decrease in their employment share can be attributed to the influx of Ukrainian refugees since February 2022. Many of them not being able to pick up work at once (Brücker et al., 2022a). In addition to easing access to the German labour market, the German government provided Ukrainian refugees with access to the regular social assistance (SGB XII) and job seekers' benefits (SGB II) schemes starting in June 2022. To receive SGB II and XII benefits, the person must have applied for a residence permit for temporary protection and must meet the general eligibility requirements for receiving social assistance or job seekers' benefits. Brücker et al. (2022a) report that 636,013 Ukrainians were entitled to SGB II benefits in September 2022. Nearly 62% of Ukrainians did indeed receive SGB II benefits in September 2022.

In addition, the IAB teamed up with the Federal Institute for Population Research (BiB), the Research Centre of the Federal Office for Migration and Refugees and the DIW Berlin. Latter hosts the Socio-Economic Panel that was used to survey 11,225 Ukrainian refugees from August to October 2022 (Brücker et al., 2022b). The results show that nearly 80% of the refugees were women and about half of them had children. Thirty-seven percent of the Ukrainian refugees reported on plans to stay in Germany for good or at least for several years. Another 34% stated wanting to stay in Germany until the end of war and 27% were not yet certain if they wanted to stay. Whilst around 70% of the Ukrainian refugees have completed a tertiary education degree, only 4% stated to speak good or very good German. However, around half of Ukrainian refugees was visiting a German language class or had already completed such a class at the time of the survey. Seventeen percent had even taken up employment. Out of these, 70% held qualified jobs (Brücker et al., 2022b).

Social partner initiatives to support Ukrainian refugees

At its national congress in early May 2022, the German Trade Union Federation (DGB) criticised the Russian President and the attack on Ukraine and called for an immediate halt of the war. Additionally, DBG called on the German Federal Government, the European Union and on NATO partners to work towards a quick end to the war (DGB, 2022). DGB has provided accommodation for refugees in its educational institutions and has supported them materially, especially by a broadbased fundraising campaign. Further support has been provided within the framework of social partnership initiatives for job placements of Ukrainian refugees in Germany (DGB, 2022). DGB

remains in close contact with the international trade union movement to help its Ukrainian sister trade unions and offers concrete help on the ground, in companies and in workplace in Ukraine.

The four umbrella organisations of German business – the Confederation of German Employers' Associations (BDA), the Federation of German Industries (BDI), the German Chamber of Commerce (DIHK) and the German Confederation of Skilled Crafts (ZDH) – jointly set up a new platform to provide ample information for employers and Ukrainians affected by the war alike. All four organisation condemned the attack on Ukraine and support the Federal Government's and international sanction measures concerning Russia (wirtschafthilft.info, undated). The platform provides information on many topics, reaching from making donations of money and goods, providing suitable medicines and medical equipment, federal support measures for German companies affected by the war, labour market integration and related legal information when employing Ukrainian refugees to such topics as job searching portals for refugees, company networks for sharing experiences or best practice examples.

Commentary and outlook

The outbreak of the war in Ukraine and sanctions against Russia slowed the economic recovery begun in 2021. German GDP increased by only 1.9% in 2022 compared to 2.6% in 2021. War-induced inflation affected consumers and business alike, with prices increasing steeply for energy and fuel but also for certain food products. Naturally, social and political developments in Germany in 2022 were largely overshadowed by the Russian invasion of the Ukraine and the resulting war. Right after the start of the war, many demonstrations and protests were held in Germany calling on Russia to end the war.

Over the course of the year, around one million Ukrainian refugees flew to Germany - many of them being women (with children). Federal states and municipalities set up welcome centres as a first point of contact, provided housing and further support to the refugees. First survey results show that many of the Ukrainian refugees completed tertiary education, but only a minority spoke German in a proficient manner. Whilst around 60% of them received welfare benefits, 17% had already begun a job in 2022. In addition, around half of the Ukrainian refugees indicated to be enrolled or even having completed a German class. Improved German language skills might also help with their integration into the workforce in the long run.

Solidarity amongst the German population right after the outbreak of the war was high (with many citizens donating money, clothes, food or offering housing). However, as the war continued and living costs kept rising in Germany, calls for more extensive state support grew stronger.

Additionally, the Federal Government was also criticised for not providing targeted enough help for those most in need. Indeed, the current Federal Government - made up of an alliance of the Social Democrats (SPD), the Greens (Die Grünen) and the Liberals (FDP) - issued three relief packages in 2022. In sum, these relief packages are worth €95 billion – with the third package from September 2022 being the largest one. The relief packages include on a variety of measures to cushion the negative effects of the war (e.g., financial support for citizens and companies to help with paying energy bills, higher welfare and child allowances to help families and low-income households or certain tax reductions). Apart from issuing relief packages, the Federal Government had to find further tough compromises - given the different membership base and political beliefs of the three ruling parties. Intense debates on Germany's involvement in delivering heavy war machinery as well as on how to realise independence of Russian oil and gas in a fast and climate-friendly characterised the political debate in 2022.

Whilst the Federal Government is still intact, the German labour market has shown comparatively resilient to the economic uncertainties of the times with rising inflation, disrupted supply chains and additional influx of refugees. The average unemployment rate rested at 5.3% in 2022 and was slightly lower when compared to the previous year. War-effects were however felt when it comes to the wage developments. The wage dynamics lagged behind the inflation dynamics in 2022: As many wage agreements from 2021 were still running in 2022, employees received collectively agreed wage rises or one-off payments negotiated under low inflation expectations. In sectors where social partners negotiated new wage agreements (such as the metal, the chemical or insurance industry), trade unions and employer organisations often agreed on percentage increases in basic renumeration plus one-off payments to help employees with covering their bills. This trend is likely to be continued throughout 2023 as business expectations are still uncertain and the war continues.

References

All Eurofound publications are available at www.eurofound.europa.eu

Berliner Kurier (2022), Der Osten geht auf die Straße, web page, available at https://www.berliner-kurier.de/politik-wirtschaft/mehr-als-100000-menschen-protestieren-gegen-steigende-energie-und-lebenshaltungskosten-li.273348, accessed on 24 January 2023.

BA (2022a), Angezeigte und realisierte Kurzarbeit, web page, available at https://statistik.arbeitsagentur.de/SiteGlobals/Forms/Suche/Einzelheftsuche Formular.html?nn=15 <a href="https://statistik.arbeitsagentur.de/SiteGlobals/Forms/Suche/Einzelheftsuche Formular.html?nn=15 <a href="https://statistik.arbeitsagentur.de/SiteGlobals/Forms/SiteGlobals/Forms/S

BA (2022b), Engpassanalyse, web page, available at

https://statistik.arbeitsagentur.de/DE/Navigation/Statistiken/Interaktive-Statistiken/Fachkraeftebedarf/Engpassanalyse-Nav.html, accessed on 24 January 2023.

BA (2023), Arbeitslosigkeit im Zeitverlauf: Entwicklung der Arbeitslosenquote, web page, available at https://statistik.arbeitsagentur.de/Statistikdaten/Detail/Aktuell/iiia4/alo-zeitreihe-dwo/alo-zeitreihe-dwo-b-0-xlsx.xlsx, accessed on 24 January 2023.

BAG (2022), 35/22 - Einführung elektronischer Zeiterfassung - Initiativrecht des Betriebsrats, web page, available at https://www.bundesarbeitsgericht.de/presse/einfuehrung-elektronischer-zeiterfassung-initiativrecht-des-betriebsrats/, accessed on 24 January 2023.

BDA (2022a), Stärkung der Tarifbindung sieht anders aus, press release from 29 September 2022, available at https://arbeitgeber.de/staerkung-der-tarifbindung-sieht-anders-aus/, accessed on 25 January 2023.

BDA (2022b), Zehn Kernpunkte für die Arbeits- und Fachkräftesicherung - BDA, available at https://www.bmas.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/Fachkraeftestrategie/fachkraeftestrategie-bda.pdf;jsessionid=2B89A71172947DC0DB4ED23DE89EEFD1.delivery2-master? blob=publicationFile&v=2, accessed on 24 January 2023.

BMAS (undated), Informationen zum Bürgergeld, web page, available at https://www.bmas.de/DE/Service/Gesetze-und-

<u>Gesetzesvorhaben/Buergergeld/buergergeld.html?etcc_med=SEA&etcc_cmp=B%C3%BCrgergeld&gc_lid=EAlaIQobChMlqPKgsrXi_AIVso1oCR0RkQZ3EAAYASAAEgIIJfD_BwE, accessed on 25 January 2023.</u>

BMAS (2022), Corona-Arbeitschutzverordnung verlängert, web page, available at https://www.bmas.de/DE/Service/Presse/Pressemitteilungen/2022/corona-arbeitsschutzverordnung-verlaengert-und-neu-gefasst.html, accessed on 25 January 2023.

Brücker, Herbert; Hauptmann, Andreas; Keita, Sekou; Vallizadeh, Ehsan (2022a), Aktuelle Daten und Indikatoren. Zuwanderungsmonitor // Dezember 2022, available at https://doku.iab.de/arbeitsmarktdaten/Zuwanderungsmonitor_2212.pdf, accessed on 26 January 2023.

Brücker et al. (2022b), Geflüchtete aus der Ukraine in Deutschland: Flucht, Ankunft und Leben. IAB-Forschungsbericht no. 24, availabe at https://doku.iab.de/forschungsbericht/2022/fb2422.pdf, accessed on 26 January 2023.

Der Landeswahlleiter des Landes Nordrhein-Westfalen (2022), Landtagwahl 2022, web page, available at https://www.wahlergebnisse.nrw/landtagswahlen/2022/aktuell/a000lw2200.shtml, accessed on 24 January 2023.

Die Bundesregierung (2022), Drittes Entlastungspaket, web page, available at https://www.bundesregierung.de/breg-de/suche/drittes-entlastungspaket-2082584, accessed on 24 January 2023.

Destatis (2023a), Bruttoinlandsprodukt (BIP), web page, available at https://www.destatis.de/DE/Presse/Pressemitteilungen/2023/01/PD23_020_811.html, https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Wirtschaft/Volkswirtschaftliche-Gesamtrechnungen-Inlandsprodukt/Tabellen/bip-bubbles.html, accessed on 24 January 2023.

Destatis (2023b), Pressemitteilung Nr. 022 vom 17. Januar 2023, web page, available at https://www.destatis.de/DE/Presse/Pressemitteilungen/2023/01/PD23_022_611.html, accessed on 24 January 2023.

DGB, Beschlussunterlagen zum 22. Ordentlichen DGB- Bundeskongress, web page, available at https://bundeskongress.dgb.de/antraege/++co++8e37116c-db48-11ec-96dd-001a4a160123; accessed on 24 January 2023.

DHZ (2022), Statusfeststellungsverfahren: Das ändert sich 2022, web page, available at https://www.deutsche-handwerks-zeitung.de/statusfeststellungsverfahren-das-aendert-sich-2022-226889/, accessed on 24 January 2023.

Deutscher Bundestag (2022), Die Wahl des Bundespräsidenten, web page, available at https://www.bundestag.de/bundesversammlung, accessed on 24 January 2023.

Deutschlandfunk (2022), Was ein Ölembargo gegen Russland für Deutschland bedeutet, web page, available at https://www.deutschlandfunk.de/embargo-oel-russland-krieg-ukraine-100.html#unabhaengigkeit, accessed on 24 January 2023.

Die Bundesregierung (2022), Fachkräftestrategie der Bundesregierung, available at https://www.bmas.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/Publikationen/fachkraeftestrategie-der-bundesregierung.pdf? blob=publicationFile&v=7, accessed on 25 January 2023.

Eurofound (2022), <u>Expanded loan guarantees for companies affected by the war in Ukraine</u>, DE-2022-20/2290 (measures in Germany), EU PolicyWatch, Dublin.

Eurofound (2022), <u>Energy price lump sum allowance for people paying income tax</u>, DE-2022-23/2226 (measures in Germany), EU PolicyWatch, Dublin.

Eurofound (2022), <u>Child bonus 2022 to cushion pressures on families from rising energy prices</u>, DE-2022-27/2228 (measures in Germany), EU PolicyWatch, Dublin.

Eurofound (2022), <u>Temporary reduction in fuel tax</u>, DE-2022-23/2231 (measures in Germany), EU PolicyWatch, Dublin.

Eurofound (2022), Reduced €9 monthly ticket for local public transport, DE-2022-23/2253 (measures in Germany), EU PolicyWatch, Dublin.

Eurofound (2022), <u>Residence permit and German labour market access</u>, DE-2022-10/2296 (measures in Germany), EU PolicyWatch, Dublin.

Eurofound (2022), Access to basic social assistance, students assistance, and health insurance for Ukrainian refugees, DE-2022-23/2220 (measures in Germany), EU PolicyWatch, Dublin.

Gesamtmetall (2022), Einigung in der M+E-Tarifrunde: Tariferhöhung vereinbart – Lange Laufzeit schafft Planungssicherheit, press release from November 2022, available at https://www.gesamtmetall.de/aktuell/pressemitteilungen/einigung-der-me-tarifrunde-tariferhoehung-vereinbart-lange-laufzeit, accessed on 25 January 2023.

IG Metall (2022), Verhandlungsergebnis: Entgelterhöhung in zwei Stufen plus 3000 Euro, web page, available at https://www.igmetall.de/tarif/tarifrunden/metall-und-elektro/abschluss-ergebnis-erklaert-metall-tarifrunde-2022, accessed on 25 January 2023.

Landesamt für Statistik Niedersachen (2022), Endgültige Ergebnisse und Vergleichszahlen, web page, available at (https://wahlen.statistik.niedersachsen.de/LW2022/LW/000.pdf, accessed on 24 January 2023.

Lesch, Hagen, 2022, Tarifpolitischer Bericht 1. Halbjahr 2022. Droht die Lohn-Preis-Spirale?, IW-Report, Nr. 38, Köln, available at https://www.iwkoeln.de/studien/hagen-lesch-droht-die-lohn-preis-spirale.html, accessed on 24 January 2023.

Personio.de(2022), BAG-Entscheidung 2022, web page, available at https://www.personio.de/blog/arbeitszeiterfassung-pflicht-ab-wann/, accessed on 24 January 2023.

Rheinische Post (2022), Letzte drei Atomkraftwerke bleiben länger in Betrieb, web page, available at https://rp-online.de/politik/deutschland/akw-bundestag-beschliesst-streckbetrieb-von-drei-atomkraftwerken aid-79773899, accessed on 24 January 2023.

Destatis (2022), Bevölkerung, web page, available at https://www.destatis.de/DE/Im-Fokus/Ukraine/Gesellschaft/ inhalt.html#:~:text=Seit%20Kriegsbeginn%20am%2024.%20Februar,18 %20000%20Personen)%20waren%20weiblich, accessed on 24 January 2023.

Süddeutsche Zeitung (2022), Chemie Tarifrunde, web page, available at https://www.sueddeutsche.de/wirtschaft/chemie-tarifabschluss-lohn-1.5677127, accessed on 23 January 2023.

SWR (2022), Protestdemo gegen hohe Lebenshaltungskosten in Freiburg, web page, available at https://www.swr.de/swraktuell/baden-wuerttemberg/suedbaden/demo-freiburg-gegen-hohe-lebenshaltungskosten-100.html, accessed on 24 January 2023.

T-Online (2023), Deutschland stoppt Rohöl-Importe aus Russland, web page, available at https://www.t-online.de/finanzen/unternehmen-verbraucher/id_100104566/oel-embargo-deutschland-stoppt-alle-rohoel-importe-aus-russland.html, accessed on 24 January 2023.

Ver.di (2022a), Ergänzende Positionen der Vereinten Dienstleistungsgewerkschaft ver.di, web page, available at

https://www.bmas.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/Fachkraeftestrategie/fachkraeftestrategie-verdi.pdf;jsessionid=2B89A71172947DC0DB4ED23DE89EEFD1.delivery2-master? blob=publicationFile&v=1, accessed on 24 January 2023.

Ver.di (2022b), Tarifverhandlungen bei den Versicherungen: Einigung in schwieriger Situation, press release from 4 April 2022, web page, available at

https://www.verdi.de/presse/pressemitteilungen/++co++2a46eaf2-b3ec-11ec-bd6f-001a4a16012a, accessed on 24 January 2023.

wirtschafthilft.info (undated), BDA, BDI, DIHK und ZDH unterstützen Unternehmen bei der Bewältigung der Folgen des Russland-Ukraine-Krieges, web page, available at https://www.wirtschafthilft.info/, accessed on 26 January 2023.

WSI (2022), Tarifbilanz des WSI-Tarifarchivs 2022, web page, available at https://www.wsi.de/de/aktueller-ueberblick-37243.htm, accessed on 24 January 2023.

WSI-Tarifarchiv (2022), Tarifbilanz des WSI-Tarifarchivs. Tariflöhne steigen 2022 durchschnittlich um 2,7 Prozent – hohe Inflation führt zu Reallohnverlust von 4,7 Prozent, press release from 20 December 2022, available at https://www.boeckler.de/pdf/pm ta 2022 12 13.pdf, accessed on 25 January 2023.

ZDH, Positionierung des ZDH anlässlich des Fachkräftegipfels der Bundesregierung am 7. September, web page, available at

https://www.bmas.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/Fachkraeftestrategie/fachkraeftestrategie-zdh.pdf;jsessionid=2B89A71172947DC0DB4ED23DE89EFD1.delivery2-master? blob=publicationFile&v=1, accessed on 24 January 2023.

WPEF23013

The European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (Eurofound) is a tripartite European Union Agency established in 1975. Its role is to provide knowledge in the area of social, employment and work-related policies according to Regulation (EU) 2019/127.